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Aldar Properties PISC
BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am delighted to present the consolidated audited financial statements of Aldar
Properties PISC (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2018.

Principal activities
The principal activities of the Group are property development, investment and management of its real estate assets
including offices, malls, hotels, schools, marinas, golf courses, restaurants, cooling assets and beach clubs.

Financial results
The financial results of the Group have been presented on page 10 of these consolidated financial staterents,

Financial statemenfs
The Directors reviewed and approved the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended

31 December 2018.

Directors
The members of the Board of Directors as of 31 December 2018 are:

H.E. Mohamed Khalifa Al Mubarak Chairman

H.E. Abubaker Seddiq Al Khoori First Vice Chairman
H.E. Waleed Ahmed Al Mokarrab Al Muhairi Second Vice Chairman
Mr, Ali Saced Abdulla Sulayem Al Falasi Director

Mr, Mansour Mohamed Al Mulla Director

Mr, Ahmed Khalifa Mohamed Al Mehairi Director

Mr, Mohammed Haji Al Khoori Director

Mr. Martin Lee Edelman Director

Eng. Hamad Salem Al Ameri Director

Release

The Directors release from Hability the external auditor and management in connection with their duties for the year
ended 31 December 2018,

On behalf of £ Board of Directors

Mohamed Al Mﬁi _arak

Chairman i
\
% #

13 February 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

ALDAR PROPERTIES PJSC

Report on the Aundit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Aldar Properties PJSC (the “Company™), and its
subsidiarics (collectively referred to as the “Group™), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, inciuding a summary of significant

accounting policies,

In our opinion, the accotnpanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting

Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “IESBA Code”)
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in
the United Arab Emirates, and we have fulfilied our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current pericd. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed

the matter is provided in that context.

We have fuifilled the responsibilities described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
finzncial statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included
the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements. The results of ow audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial

statements.

Acrneaier Tirrs of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

ALDAR PROPERTIES PJSC continued

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

Key audit maitters continued _

(a) Recognition of revenue on property development and sales and valuation of unbilled riceivables
Revenue recognition on property development and sales and valuation of unbilled receivables involves
significant judgements and use of estimates. The Group assesses for each of ifs confracts with customers, whether
to recognise revenue over lime or at a point in thmne based on a consideration of whether the Group has created a
real estate asset with no alternative use and whether the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed at any time during the life of the contract (see note 3.7 and 4.2 to the consolidated

financial statements).

Where revenue is recognised over time, the Group estimates total development and infrastructure costs required
to mect performance obligations under the contract and recognises proportionate revenue to the extent of
satisfaction of performance obligations as at the end of the reporting period.

Revenue recognition on property development and sales was assessed as a key audif matter due to the significance
of the assessment of satisfaction of performance obligations, estimation of total cost of praject completion and
judgements made in assessing the timing of revenue recognition. Furthermore, the valuation of unbilled revenues
on completed as well as on-going development projects required management judgement due to the specific risks
associated with each development project,

We reviewed a sample of contracts with customers for property development and sale and assessed the
management identification of performance obligations and determination of whether the revenue shall be
recognised over time or at a point in time, We assessed the satisfaction of performance obligations and where
appropriate we corroborated it with external available evidence.

We examined approved project cost budgets for sigaificant on-going real estate developments and reviewed the
projects’ completion percentages in light of costs incurred and also reviewed invoices, on a sample basis, to
substantiate the costs incurred. For a sample of significant projects, we recalculated the amount of revenue to be

recognised.

We inspected the coniracts and tested the governance around approval of project budgets and held discussions
with management where significant variances against the approved budgets were noted to understand the

underlying reason.

We evaluated the adequacy of the valuation of unbilled revenues on completed as well as on-going development
projects. In addition, we evaluated the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures regarding unbilled revenues and the
related risks such as credit risk as disclosed in note 34.6 of the consolidated financial statements.

{b) Faluation of invextment properties
The Group’s investment properties consist mainly of retail, residential and office properties, which are measured
and recognised at fair value in the consolidated financial statements.

The valuation of investment properties is a key audit matter given the degree of complexity involved in valuation
and the significance of the judgements and estimates made by management. The property valuations were carried
out by external valuers (the “Valuers”). In determining a property’s valuation the Valuers take into account
properiy-specific information such as the current tenancy agreements and rental income and apply assumptions
for yields and estimated market rent, which are influenced by prevailing market yields and comparable market
transactions, to arrive at the valuation (see note 4.2 and 8 to the consolidated financial staternents).

A member firm of Ernst & Young Globai Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

ALDAR PROPERTIES PJSC continued

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

Key audir matters confinued

(b) Valnation of investmen, properitics continued
We read the valuation reports for properties and assessed that the valuation approach for each was in accordance

with the established standards for valuation of properties and suitable for use in determining the cattying value
for the purpose of the consolidated financial statements.

We assessed the Valuers® independence, qualification and expertise and read their terms of engagement fo
determine whether there were any matters that might have affected their objectivity or may have imposed scope
limitations upon their work.

We involved our internal valuation specialists in reviewing the valuation of a sample of properties. The review
included discussions with management, consideration of overall reasonableness of the assumptions and
assessment of movement in valuations against our expectations. Where the assumptions were outside expected
ranges or otherwise unusual, we obtained further audit evidence to support the explanations provided by

management.

We compared the investment yields used by the Valuers to an estimated range of expected yields, assessed via
reference to published benchmarks and research reports. Morcover, we analysed assumptions such as estimated
rental values, service charges and occupancy levels against historical trends, published benchmarks or recent
transactions. For break options, we inquired from management their assessment, based on correspondence with
the tenants, whether these options would be exercised and corroborated management assessment with
agsumptions used by Valuers in valuation reports. Where assumptions were outside the expected range or
otherwise urusual, and/or valuations showed unexpected movements, we undertook further investigations and,
when necessary, held further discussions with the management.

{c) Lmpairment assessment of hotel properties clgssified under property, plant and equipment

Hotel properties classified under property, plant and equipment had a carrying amount of AED 2,278 thousand
as at 31 December 2018. The Group undertakes a review of indicators of impairment and wherever indicators of
impairment exist, an impairment review is carried out by determining the recoverable amount which takes into
account the fair value of the property under consideration (see note 4.2 and 6 to the consolidated financial

statements).

The estimation of recoverable amounts of Hotel properties was assessed as a key audit matter due to the degree
of complexity involved in valuation and the significance of the judgements and estimates made by the

management,

We assessed the qualifications and expertise of independent third party Valuers and read their terms of
engagement to determine whether there were any maiters that might have alfected their objectivity or may have
imposed scope limitations upon their work. We involved our internal valuation specialists in reviewing the
valuation of Hotel properties. The review included discussions with management, consideration of overall
reasonableness of the assumptions and assessment of movement in valuations against our expectations. Where
the assumptions were outside the expected range or otherwise unusual, we obtained further audit evidence to
support the explanations provided by managemert.

& member firm of Ernst 8 Young Global Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUIMTORS? REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

ALDAR PROPERTIES PJISC continued

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

Key audit matters continued

(e) Impairment assessment of hotel properties classified under property, plant and equipment continued
We compared the investment yields used by the Valuers to an estimated range of expected yields, assessed via
reference to published benchmarks and research reports. Moreover, we analysed assumptions such as average
daily rate and occupancy levels against historical trends or published benchmarks. Where assumptions were
outside the expected range or otherwise unusual, and/ or valuations showed unexpected movements, we
tndertook farther investigations and, when necessary, held further discussions with the management,

(d) Business combingiion

The Group has acqnired a portfolio of real estate assets and operating businesses from Tourism Development &
Investment Company P.J.S.C (“TDIC”), for a total consideration of AED 3,625 million, resulting in a gain of
AED 132.8 million. The assets and operating businesses acquired are involved in the hospitality, retail,
residential, district cooling, education and infrastructure development businesses. This acquisition is part of the
Group’s strategic plan to expand its portfolio. On 1 May 2018, the conditions precedent under the Agreement
were substantively met, resulting in the Company gaining control of these assets and the operating businesses.
(see noie 4.2 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements).

An independent external valuation specialist (“valuers”) was engaged by the Group to perform the purchase price
allocation exercise, fair valuation of required assets and liabilities, and identification and valvation of the TDIC
assets/ businesses. The acquisition of assets/ businesses is a key audit matter as this is a significant transaction
during the year which requires significant judgement regarding the allocation of the purchase price to the assets
and liabilities acquired and adjustments made to align accounting policies of the newly acquired assets/
businesses with those of the Group.

We obtained the purchase price allocation report prepared by management and the independent valuers engaged
by the Group. We involved our infernal valuation specialists in reviewing the report. The review included
discussions with management and consideration of overall reasonableness of the assumptions and valuations in
line with our expectations. Further, we assessed the key assumptions including cash flows focusing on revenues
and earnings before interest, tax depteciation and amortisation (‘"EBITDA’) and appropriateness of discount and
growth rates, whilst considering the risk of management bias.

We read the valuation reports for properties acquired as part of business combination and assessed that the
valuation approach for each was in accordance with the established standards for valuation of properties and
suitable for use in determining the carrying value for the purpose of the consolidated financial statements.

We obtained a confirmation from TDIC regarding the completeness of the assets and liabilities acquired as part
of the business combination.

& member Fem of Ernst & Young Glebal Uimited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

ALDAR PROPERTIES PJSC continued

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

Other information
Other information consists of the information included in the Group’s 2018 Annual Report and Board of

Director’s report, other than the consolidated financial statetnents and our auditors’ report thereon. We obtained
the report of Board of Directors, prior to the date of our auditors’ report, and we expect to obtain the remaining
sections of the Group's 2018 Annual Report after the date of our auditors’ report. Management is responsible for
the other information.

Our opinion on the consolidated finzncial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or out knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior
{o the date of this auditors’ report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are tequired to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and Board of Directors for the consolidated financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financtal statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in compliance with the applicable provisions
of the Company’s Memarandurn and Articles of Association and of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, and
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatetnent, whether due to fraud or error,

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or

has no realistic alfernative but to do so.
The Board of Directors are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements,

A member firm of Ernst & Young Globat Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TC THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

ALDAR PROPERTIES PJSC continued

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements continued
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional Judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also;

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, infentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of infernal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

' Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. [f'we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to
the related disctosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Qur conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a

gOINg concerm.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements, We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify

during our audit.

Wealso provide the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

A member firm of Emst & Young Globaf Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS® REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

ALDAR PROPERTIES PJSC continued

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements continued

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors” report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Further, as required by the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, we report that:

i) we have obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for the purposes of our
audit;
ii) the consolidated financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material respects, with the

applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015 and the Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company;

iti) the Group has maintained proper hooks of account;

v} the consolidated financial information included in the Board of Directors report is consistent with the
books of account and records of the Group;

V) investments in shares and stocks are included in note 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements
and include purchases and investments made by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2018;

vi) note 32 reflects material related party transactions and the terms under which they were conducted;

vii) based on the information that has been made available to us nothing has come to our attention which

causes us to believe that the Company has contravened, during the financial year ended 31 December
2018, any of the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015 or of its Memorandum
and Articles of Association which would materially affect its activities or its consolidated financial
position as at 31 December 2018; and

viii)  note 37 reflects the social contributions recorded during the year.

Signed by:

Anthony O’Sullivan
Partner

Registration No: 687

13 February 2019
Abu Dhabi

A member firm of Erpst & Youny Globa! Limited




Aldar Properties PISC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At 31 December 2018

Notes

ASSETS

Nou-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 5
Intangible assets and goodwill 7
Investment properties 8
Investment in associates and joint ventures 9
Available-for-sale financial assets 10
Investment in financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 10
Other financial asset 20
Trade and other receivables il

Total non-current assets

Curreint assets

Land held for sale

Devetopment work in progress 12
Inventories 13
Trade and other receivables 11
Cash and bank balances 14

Total current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital 15
Statutory reserve 16
Hedging reserve

Fair value reserve

Retained eamings

Equity attributable to the owners of the Compary
Non-controifing interests

Total equity

Non-current liabilities

Noen-convertible sukuk 17
Bank borrowings 18
Retentions payable

Lease liability

Provision for employees’ end of service benefit 19
Other financial liabilities 20

TFotal non-current liabilities

Current liabilities

Non-converiible sukuk 17
Bank borrowings 13
Retentions payable

Lease liability

Advances from customers

Trade and other payables 21

Total current liabilities

Total liabilities
TOTAL EQUITY Agﬂ} LIABILITIES

i

"

s

ubarak Talal AT Dhiyebi

Mohamed A
Chairman | Chief Executive Officer

i

‘
L

2018 2007
AED000 AED’GO0
3,600,971 2,930,941

198,117 5,104
16,408,303 16,676,549
993,531 957,631
- 119,389
96,116 -
14,024 -
399,002 427211
21,710,004 20,516,825
3,806,071 2,305,747
2,473,374 1.476.818
469,144 286,601
5,070,445 4,925,449
5,014,607 6.885.486
16,833,641 15,880,101
38,543.705 36,396,926
7,862,630 7,862,630
3,931,315 3.931 315
70,547 (17.024)
34,729 44,084
12,163,947 11,200,549
24,063,168 23,021,554
172.662 213,611
24,235,830 23,235,165
1,810,140 -
4,865,481 2,376,275
304,702 311,389
430,703 488,183
145,479 141,763
___ 5802 16,263
7,562,307 3333873
21,811 2,762,570
358,512 817,173
409,493 310,175
99,195 70,842
362,276 469,854
5494281 5397274
6,745,568 _9.827 888
14,307,875 13,161,761
38,543,705 /< 36,396,926
GregFewer

Chief Financial Officer

The accompajlying notes 1 to 38 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




Aldar Properties PISC

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 December 2018

Notes
Revenue 22
Direct costs 23
GROSS PROFIT
Selling and marketing expenses 24
General and administrative expenses
Staff costs 25
Depreciation and amortisation 6,7
(Provisions and impairments) reversal, net 26
Others
Share of profit from associates and joint ventures, net 9
Gain on disposal of investment properties
Gain on disposal of joint venture
Fair value loss on investment properties, net 8
Financc income 27
Finance costs 28
Other income 29
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
Attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controliing interests
Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable
to owners of the Company in ARD 30

The accompanying notes 1 to 38 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2018
AED000

6,286,533
(3,654.846)

2,631,687
(85,440)
(218,948)
(230,142)
(50,048)
(139,235)
49,863
30,319
(671,046)
79,735

(309,749)
767,868

L85d4,864

1,855,808
(944)

1,854,864

2017
AED 000

6,180,676
(3.525.171)

2,655,505
(74,978)
(227,767)
(185,976)

8,821
(104,543)

41,544
3,835

(613,107)
124,642

(254,253)
632212
2,005,935
1,995,505
10,430

2,005,935

0.254

10




Aldar Properties PJSC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Nofes
Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified
to income statement in subsequent periods:
Gain on revaluation of investment in financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income 10

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified
to income statement in subseguent periods:
Changes in fair value of cash flow hedges 20

Other comprehensive income
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR
Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

The accompanying notes 1 to 38 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2018
AED’000

1.854.864

(9,355)

87.571

78,216

1,933,080

1,934,024
(944)

1,933,080

2017
AED000

2,005,935

5,913

2,112

8,025

— MLl

2,013,960

2,003,530
10,430

— =M T

2,013,960

e

11
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Aldar Properties PISC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the year

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation

Finance income

Dividend income

Finance costs

Amortisation of prepaid finance costs

Fair value loss on investment properties, net
Share of profit from associates and joint ventures
Provision for onerous coniracts

Impairments/ write-offs on projects

Provisions and impairments/ (reversal), net
Receivables write-offs

Reversal of accruals, net

Gain on business combination

Reversal for impairment of property, plant

and equipment, net

Write-off of investment in associates and joint ventures
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Gain on disposal of investment properties
Provision for employees® end of service benefits

Operating cash flows before changes in working capital

Changes in working capital:

(Increase)/ decrease in trade and other receivables
Increase in development work in progress (i)
Increase in inventories and land held for sale (i)
Increase in retentions payable

(Decrease) increase in advances from customers
Increase/ (decrease) in trade and other payables

Cash (used in)/ generated from operating activities
Employees’ end of service benefits paid

Net cash (used in)/ generated from operating activities (i)

Notes

6&7
27
10

26
26
26

29

19

19

2018
AED’000

1,854,864

242,807
(79,735)
(5,415)
271,805
15,715
671,046
(49,863)
12,126
3,348
28,970
26,958
(144,751)
(132,791)

(22,507)
49
223

36,687

2,729,536

(98,008)
(998,350)
(1,760,190)
92,630
(107,578)

71,247

(70,713)
(36,675)
(107.388)

2017
AED000

2,005,935

196,539
(124,642)
(5,155)
205,778
18,017
613,107
(41,544)

2,004
(9,544)

(200,583)

(1,341)
800
14
(3,835)
26.420

2,682,030

61,377
(203,157)
(143,515)

58,806

45211
(617.082)

1,883,670

Ao SaT TA

(12.794)

1.870.876

6] The net cash outflows for operating activities for the year ended 31 December 2018 include AED 2,050,000
thousand relating to the acquisition of land and projects under development as part of the asset acquisition from

TDIC (note 5).
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Aldar Properties PJSC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS continued
For the year ended 31 December 2018

Notes

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 6
Purchase of intangible assets 7
Additions to investment properties 8
Capital call contributions made for investment in financial assets

at fair value through other comprehensive income 10
Capital repayments received investment in financial assets

at fair value through other comprehensive income 10
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties

Finance income received

Dividends received 9 & 10
Acquisition of minority interest of subsidiary
Acquisition of Operating Business, net of cash acquired 53

Partial swap settlement
Movement in term deposits with original maturities above three months
Movement in restricted bank balances

Net cash from/ (used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of operating lease Hability 332
Bank borrowings and Sukuk raised

Repayment of borrowings and Sukuk

Finance costs paid

Dividends paid

Directors’ remuneration paid 32

Net cash used in financing activities
Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 14

The accompanying notes 1 to 38 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2018
AED(00

(94,170)
(4,064)
(732,277)

(14,420)
28,338

125,541
34,775
(30,000
(928,337)
58,466
2,408,578
(60,249)

_792,181
(54,851)

8,171,250
(7,075,014)
(283,830)

(945,618)
(19.279)

(207,342)

477,451
916,907

1,394,358

2017
AED’000

{154,940)
(4,976)
(944,211)

12,972
15,094
74,620
66,544

(71,417
(712.354)

(1.718.668)
(25,468)
1,000,000
(627,592)
(204,631)

(8606,143)
(23,000)

(746,834)
(594,626)
1.511,533

216,907
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Aldar Properties PISC

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2018

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION

The establishment of Aldar Properties PISC (the “Company”) was approved by Decision No. (16) of 2004 of the
Abu Dhabi Department of Planning and Economy dated {2 October 2004. The Company’s incorporation was declared
by Ministerial Resolution No. (59) of 2005 issued by the UAE Minister of Economy dated 23 February 2005.
The Company is domiciled in the United Arab Emirates and its registered office address is PO Box §1133, Abu Dhabi.
The Company’s ordinary shares are listed on Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange.

As of 31 December 2018, Mubadala Investment Company through its wholly owned subsidiaries has an indirect
37.33% shares of the Company.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) are engaged in various businesses primarily
the development, sales, investment, construction, management and associated services for real estate, operation of
hotels, schools, marinas, golf courses, restaurants, cooling assets and beach clubs,

2 NEW AND AMENDED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS) AND
INTERPREATIONS

2.1 Standards issued and adopted

The Group applied IFRS 9 for the first time. Several other amendments and interpretations apply for the first time in
2018, but do not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. Other than IFRS 16
“Leases”, the Group has not early adopted any standards, interpretations or amendments that have been issued but are
not yet effective.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

I[FRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018, bringing together all three aspects of the accounting for financial instruments:
classification and measurement; impairment; and hedge accounting, With the exception of hedge accounting, which
the Group applied prospectively, the Group has applied IFRS 9 retrospectively, The impact of adoption of IFRS 9 on
the financial statements of the Group has been explained in note 3.23 below.

IFRIC Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Considerations

The Interpretation clarifies that, in determining the spot exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset,
expense or income (or part of it) on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary kability relating to
advance consideration, the date of the transaction is the date on which an entity initially recognises the non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, then the entity must determine the date of the transactions for each payment or receipt of advance
consideration. This Interpretation does not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

The amendments clarify when an entity should transfer property, including property under construction or
development into, or out of investment property. The amendments state that a change in use occurs when the property
meets, or ceases fo meet, the definition of investment property and there is evidence of the change in use. A mere
change in management’s intentions for the use of a property does not provide evidence of a change in use. These
amendments do not have any material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements,

Amendments to IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions

The TASR issued amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment that address three main areas: the effects of vesting
conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the classification of a share-based
payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding tax obligations; and accounting where a modification
to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment transaction changes its classification from cash seftled to equity
settled. On adoption, entities are required to apply the amendments without restating prior periods, but retrospective
application is permitted if elected for all three amendments and other criteria are met. The Group has no share-based
payment transactions and hence these amendments do not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements,
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Aldar Properties PJSC

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2018

2 NEW AND AMENDED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRS) AND
INTERPREATIONS continued

2.3 Standards issued and adopted continued

Amendments to IFRS 4 Applying IFRS ¢ Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

The amendments address concerms arising from implementing the new financial instruments standard, IFRS 9, before
implementing IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts, which replaces IFRS 4. The amendments introduce two options for entities
issuing insurance contracts: a temporary exemption from applying IFRS 9 and an overlay approach. These amendments
are not relevant to the Group.

Amendments to IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures -~ Clarification that measuring investees
at fair value through profit or loss is an investment-by-investment choice

The amendments clarify that an entity that is a venture capital organisation, or other qualifying entity, may elect, at
initial recognition on an investment-by-investment basis, to measure its investments in associates and joint ventures at
fair value through profit or loss. If an entity that is not itself an investment entity, has an interest in an associate or
joint venture that is an investment entity, then it may, when applying the equity method, elect to retain the fair value
measurement applied by that investment entity associate or joint venture to the investment entity associate’s or joint
venture’s interests in subsidiaries. This election is made separately for each investment entity associate or joint venture,
at the later of the date on which: (a) the investment entity associate or joint venture is initially recognised; (b) the
associate or joint venture becomes an investment entity; and (c) the investment entity associate or joint venture first
becomes a parent. These amendments do not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards - Deletion of short-

term exemptions for first-time adopters
Short-term exemptions in paragraphs E3-E7 of IFRS 1 were deleted because they have now served their intended
purpose. These amendments do not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

2.2 Standards issued but not yet effective

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Group’s
financial statements are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they become
effective.

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on
or gfter
Standards, interpretation and amendments
° IFRS 17, Insurance Contracts: IFRS 17 will replace IFRS 4 Insurance Confracts
(IFRS 4) that was issued in 2005

8 Amendments to IFRS 9: Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation

o Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an

[ January 2021
1 January 2019

Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
Amendments to IAS 19: Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement
Amendments to FAS 28: Long term investment in associates and joint ventures

Annual Improvements 2015-2017 Cycle

The Group had elected to early adopt IFRS 16 with effect from 1 January 2016. Management anticipates that the
adoption of the standards, interpretations and amendments issued but not yet effective will have no material impact on

TFRS 3 Business Combinations - Previously held interests in a joint operation
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements - Previously held interests in a joint operation

IAS 12 Income Taxes - Income tax consequences of payments on financial
instruments classified as equity

IAS 23 Bortowing Costs - Borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation

the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

I January 2019
[ January 2019

1 January 2019
1 January 2019

1 January 2019
1 January 2019
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Aldar Properties PJSC

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2018

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
31 Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (JASB) and also comply with the
applicable requirements of the laws in the UAE.

3.2 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for investment properties,
derivative financial instruments and investments in financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
that have been measured at fair value, The principal accounting policies are set out below,

These consolidated financial statements have been presented in UAE Dirhams (AED) which is also the functional
currency of the Group and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

3.3 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and entities (including
structured entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee, Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the
Group has:

- power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee)

- exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee

- the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this presumption and
when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

- the contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee
- rights arising from other contractual arrangements
- the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights

The Group re-assesses whether ot not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses confrol of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the
date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of OCI are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-comtrolling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the
Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-

controlling interest and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in income statement.
Any investment retained is recognised at fair value.
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Aldar Properties PJSC

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2018

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

33 Basis of consolidation continued

Details of the Company subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018 are given below:

Name of subsidiary
Al Raha Gardens Property LLC
Al Jimi Mall LLC

Aldar Real Estate Services LLC
Al Raha Infrastructure Company LLC

Aldar Academies LLC

Aldar Commercial Property Developments LLC
Aldar Hotels and Hospitality LLC
Aldar Marinas LLC

Abu Dhabi World Trade Centre LLC

Yas Hotel L1.C
Yas Links LLC
Al Muna Primary School LEC

Tilal Liwa Reai Estate Investment LLC
Al Seih Real Estate Management LLC

Seih Sdeirah Real Estate LL.C

Pivot Engineering & General Contiracting Co. (WLL)
Aldar Investment Properties LLC

Aldar Fnvestment Holding Restricted Limited

Khidmat - Sole Proprietorship LLC

(formerly Khidmah LLC)

TDIC Food & Beverage — Sole Proprictorship LLC
TDIC Education — Sole Proprietorship LLC
Saadiyat Cooling LLC

Saadiyat District Cooling LLC

Chwnership

interest
100%
160%

100%
160%

100%

100%
100%
100%

100%

100%
100%
100%

100%
91.4%

91L.4%

65.2%
100%

100%

100%
100%
100%
35%

1060%

Courfry of
incorporafion

UAE
UAE

UAE
UAE

UAE

UAE
UAE
UAE

UAE

UAE
UAE
UAE

UAE
UAE

UAE

Principal activity

Development, sale and management of
properties
Development  and
investment property
Property deveiopment
Development, sale and management of
properties

Investment in, and management of entities
providing educational services

management  of

Ownership, management and development
of buildings

Investment in, and management of, entities
providing hotels and hospitality services
Managing and operating marinas, sports
clubs and marine machinery

Development and management of, and
investment in, properties and related
aclivities

Ownership, development and management
of hotels

Ownership and management of golf courses
and golf clubs

Providing educational services

Property, rental and management
Management and leasing of real cstate; real
estate projects investment

Property rental and management; real estate
projects investment

Engineering and general construction works
Investrment, management and associated
services for real estate assets and the
operation of hotels

Special purpose vehicle, Proprictary asset
managetient company

Management and leasing of real estate
Restaurant management

Educational activities

Cooling station operations

Cooling station operations
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Aldar Properties PJSC

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2018

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
34 Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, which is measured at acquisition date fair value, and the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the coniractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the
acquires.

Any contingent consideration to be fransferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope of
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, is measured at fair value with the changes in fair value recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9. Other contingent consideration that is not within the scope of IFRS 9 is
measured at fair value at each reporting date with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any previous interest held over the net identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed). If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred,
the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and
reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the reassessment still
results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain
is recognised in profit or loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabikities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree Is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control) and the resulting gain or
loss, if any, is recognised in income statement. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition
date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to income statement where
such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of,

If the iitial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination oceurs, the Group reports provisional amounis for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period, or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to
reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known,
would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.
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Aldar Properties PJSC

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2018

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
3.5 Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a
joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
io the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
The considerations made in determining significant influence or joint control are similar to those necessary to
determine control over subsidiaries.

The Group’s investment in its associate and joint venture are accounted for using the equity method. The results and
assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted
for under IFRS 5§ Now-current Assefs Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. Under the equity methed, an
investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised are carried in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and as adjusted thereafier to recognise for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate and joint venture,

The income statement reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the associate or joint venture. Any
change in OCI of those investees is presented as part of the Group’s OCL In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and the associate or joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate or joint venture.

The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an associate and a joint venture is shown on the face of the
statement of profit or loss outside operating profit and represents profit or loss and non-controlling interests in the
subsidiaries of the associate or joint venture.

Losses of an associate or jeint venture in excess of the Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes
any long term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in associate or joint venture) are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the associate or joint venture.

The financial statements of the associate or joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group.
When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment loss
on its investment in its associate or joint venfure. At each reporting date, the Group defermines whether there is
objective evidence that the investment in the associate or joint venture is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate or joint venture
and its carrying value, and then recognises the loss within ‘Share of profit of an associate and a joint venture’ in the
income statement.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and
proceeds from disposal is recognised in income statement.
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Aldar Properties PJSC

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2018

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
3.6 Investment in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

When a group entity undertakes its activities under joint operations, the Group as a joint operator recognises in relation
to its interest in a joint operation:

. its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;

. its Habilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly;

. its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation;
. its share of the revenue from the sale of the cutput by the joint operation; and

. its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation in
accordance with IFRSs applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a sale or
contribution of assets), the Group is considered conducting the transaction with other parties to the joint operation and
profits and losses resulting from the transactions are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only
to the extent of other parties' interests in the joint operation.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a purchase of
assets), the Group does not recognise its share of the gains and losses until it resells those assets to a third party.

Current versus non-~current classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on current/non-current
classification. An asset is current when it is:

. Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle

. Held primarily for the purpose of trading

. Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period

Or

. Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve

months after the reporting period
All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is current when:

. It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle

. It is held primarily for the purpose of trading

. It is due to be settled within twelve months afler the reporting period

Or

. There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting period

The Group classifics all other liabilities as non-current,
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Aldar Properties PJSC

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2018

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

3.7 Revenue recognition
"I'he Group had elected to early adopt IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”, from 1 January 2015.

Revenue from contracts with customers for sale of properties, construction contracts and provision of services
The Group recognises revenue from comtracts with customers based on a five-step model as set out in [FRS 15:

Step 1 Identify contract(s) with a customer: A contract is defined as an agreement between two or more parties that
creates enforceable rights and obligations and sets out the criteria for every contract that must be met.

Step 2 Identify performance obligations in the contract: A performance obligation is a promise in a contract with a
customer to transfer a good or service to the customer.

Step 3 Determine the transaction price: The transaction price is the amount of consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding
amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Step 4  Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract: For a contract that has more than
one performance obligation, the Group allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation in an
amount that depicts the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
satisfying each performance obligation.

Step 5 Recognise revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance obligation.

The Group satisfies a performance obligation and recognises revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

a) The Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternate use to the Group and the Group has as an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

b) The Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced.

c) The customer simultanecusly receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as

the Group performs.

For performance obligations where one of the above conditions are not met, revenue is recognised at the point in time
at which the performance obligation is satisfied.

When the Group satisfies a performance obligation by delivering the promised goods or services it creates a contract-
based asset on the amount of consideration earned by the performance, Where the amount of consideration received
from a customer exceeds the amount of revenue recognised this gives rise to a contract liability.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually
defined terms of payment and excluding taxes and duty. The Group assesses its revenue arrangements against specific
criteria to determine if' it is acting as principal or agent.

Revenue is recognised to the extent it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably,

Rental income
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Service charges and expenses recoverable from tenant

Income arising from cost recharged to tenants is recognised in the period in which the cost can be contractually
recovered. Service charges and other such receipts are included gross of the related costs in revenue as the Group acts
ag principal in this respect.

Income from hofels
Income from hotels comprises revenue from rooms, food and beverages and other associated services provided, and is
recognised at the point when the goods are sold or services are rendered.
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3.7 Revenue recognition continued

Income from leisure businesses
Income from leisure businesses comprises revenue from goods sold and services provided at marinas and golf course,
and is recognised at the point when the goods are sold or services are rendered.

Income from schools
Registration fee is recognised as income when it is received. Tuition fee income is recognised over the period of tuition.
Tuition fees received in advance are recorded as deferred income.

Revenue from cooling assets

Revenue is recognised for supply of chilled water based on the agreements. The revenue in respect of the contracted
capacity is recognised at the fixed rate, whereas the revenue in respect of the consumption of chilled water is recognised
as these are consumed by the customer at agreed rates. In addition, customers are charged a one-time connection fee.

Dividend income
Dividend income from jnvestments is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment has been established.

Interest income
Tnterest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and effective inferest rate

applicable.
3.8 Leases
The Group had elected to early adopt IFRS 16 “Leases” with effect from 1 January 2016.

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For a contract that is, or contains, a lease, the Group accounts for each Jease component within the contract as a lease
separately from non-lease components of the contract,

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable period of a lease, together with both:

a) periods covered by an option to extend the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and
b) periods covered by an option to terminate the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain not to exercise that
option.

In assessing whether a lessee is reasonably certain to exercise an option to extend a lease, or not to exercise an option
to terminate a lease, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances that create an econotic incentive for the
lessee to exercise the option to extend the lease, or not to exercise the option to terminate the lease. The Group revises
the lease term if there is a change in the non-cancellable period of a lease.

The Group as a lessee

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate stand-alope price of the non-lease components.

The relative stand-alone price of lease and non-lease components is determined on the basis of the price the lessor, or
a similar supplier, would charge an eatity for that component, or a similar component, separately. If an observable
stand-alone price is not readily available, the Group estimates the stand-alone price, maximising the use of observable
information.

The non-lease components are accounted for in accordance with the Group’s policies.
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3.8 Leases continued
For determination of the lease term, the Group reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to exercise an extension

option, or not to exercise a termination option, upon the occurrence of either a significant event or a significant change
in circumstances that:

a) is within the control of the Group; and

b) affects whether the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an option not previously included in its
determination of the lease term, or not to exercise an option previously included in its determination of the
lease term.

At the commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability under the lease contract.

Lease ligbility

Lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement
date. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily
determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Afier initial recognition, the lease liability is measured by (&) increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the
lease liability; (b) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made; and (¢} remeasuring the carrying
amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications or to reflect revised in-substance fixed lease payments.

Where, (a) there is a change in the lease term as a result of reassessment of certainty to exercise an exercise option, or
not to exercise a termination option as discussed above; or (b) there is a change in the assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset, assessed considering the events and circumstances in the context of a purchase option,
the Group remeasures the lease liabilities to reflect changes to lease payments by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate. The Group determines the revised discount rate as the interest rate implicit in
the lease for the remainder of the lease term, if that rate can be readily determined, or its incremental borrowing rate
at the date of reassessment, if the interest rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined.

Where, (a) there is a change in the amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; or (b) there is a
change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or a rate used to defermine those payments,
including a change to reflect changes in market rental rates following a market rent review, the Group remeasures the
lease liabilities by discounting the revised lease payments using an unchanged discount rate, unless the change in lease
payments results from a change in floating interest rates. In such case, the Group use a revised discount rate that reflects
changes in the interest rate.

The Group recognises the amount of the re-measurement of lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
Where the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero and there is a further reduction in the

measurement of the lease liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount of the re-measurement in profit or loss.

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if both:

a) the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and
b the consideration for the lease increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for the

increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

TLease modifications that are not accounted for as a separate, lease the Group, at the effective date of the lease
modification: (a) allocates the consideration in the modified contract; (b) determines the lease term of the modified
lease; and (c) remeasures the lease liability by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.
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3.8 Leases continued

The revised discount rate is determined as the interest rate implicit in the lease for the remainder of the lease term, if
that rate can be readily determined, or the lessee's incremental borrowing rate at the effective date of the modification,

if the interest rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined

Right-of-use assets
The right-of-use asset is initially recognised at cost comprising of

a) amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

b) any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

c) any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the underlying asset, restoring

the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease. These costs are recognised as part of the cost of right-of-use asset when the Group
incurs an obligation for these costs. The obligation for these costs are incurred either at the commencement
date or as a consequence of having used the underlying asset during a particular period.

After initial recognition, the Group applies fair value model to right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment
property. For assets that meet the definition of property, plant and equipment, right of use asset is carried at cost net
of depreciation and impairment and is amortised over the term of the lease.

3.9 Foreign currencies

Transactions in currencies other than AED (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

3.10 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs cligible for capitalisation. All other borrowing costs are recognised in income statement in
the period during which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
comnection with the borrowing of fimds.

3.11 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
Tosses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance expenses are charged to the income statement in the
period in which they are incurred.
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3.11 Property, plant and equipment continued

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the assets’ cost to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Years
Buildings 20-30
Plants and machinery 15-20
Labour camps 5
Furniture and fixtures 5
Office equipment 3--5
Computers 3
Motor vehicles 4
Leasehold improvements 3-4

Freehold land is not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal (i.., at the date the recipient obtains control)
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in the income statement when the asset is derecognised.

312 Capital work in progress

Properties or assets in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes, are carried at cost,
Jess any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes all direct costs attributable to the acquisition of the property
including related staff costs, and for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy, When the assets are ready for intended use, the capital work in progress is transferred to the
appropriate property, plant and equipment category and is accounted in accordance with the Group’s policies.

3.13 Investment properties

Investment properties comprise completed properties and properties under development. Completed properties are
properties held to earn rentals and/ or for capital appreciation and properties under development are properties being
constructed or developed for future use as investment property.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost including transaction costs and for properties under development
all direct costs atiributable to the design and construction including related staff costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the reporting date. Gains or losses
arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are included in the income statement in the period in
which they arise. Fair values are determined based on an annual valuation performed by an accredited external
independent valuer applying a valuation model recommended by the International Valuation Standards Committee.
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3.13 Investment properties continued

Transfers are made to (or from) investment property only when there is a change inuse. For a transfer from investment
property to owner-occupied propetty, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of change
in use. If owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such property in
accordance with the policy stated under property, plant and equipment up to the date of change in use.

Upon completion of construction or development, a property is transferred from properties under development to
completed properties. Investment properties are derecognised either when they have been disposed of (i.e., at the date
the recipient obtains control) or when they are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is
expected from their disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is
recognised in the income statement in the period of derecognition.

3.14  Development work in progress

Development work in progress consists of property being developed principally for sale and is stated at the lower of
cost or net realisable value, Cost comprises all direct costs attributable to the design and construction of the property
including direct staff costs, and for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of the business less
estimated costs to complete and applicable variable selling expenses.

3.15 Inventories

Inventories comprise completed properties held for sale in the ordinary course of business and other operating
inventories. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, Cost is calculated using the weighted
average cost method and comprises construction/ acquisition costs and other charges incurred in bringing inventory to
its present location and condition. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated selling
and marketing costs to be incurred.

3.16 Land held for sale

Iand held for sale is stated at the Jower of cost and net realisable value. Costs include the cost of land acquired and all
direct costs atiributable to the infrastructure works of the land. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price of the land less all estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

3.17 Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets
are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amoriisation is charged on
a straight-line basis are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the
expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of firture economic benefits embodied in the asset are
considered to modify the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting
estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the income statement in the
expense category that is consistent with the function of the intangible assets. An intangible asset is derecognised upon
disposal (i.e., at the date the recipient obtains control} or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use
or disposal, Any gain or loss arising upon derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the income statement.

Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the
specific software. These costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives which is normally
a period of three to five years. :
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3.17 Intangible assets continued

Customer contracts

Customer contracts have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment and
mainly represent long term non-cancellable contracts with customers for the supply of district cooling services which
were acquired during the year (note 5). Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost
over their estimated useful lives, which is in the range of 22 to 29 years.

3.18 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs of dispasal
and its value in use. The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. When the carrying amount of
an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable
amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In
determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions
can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed
budgets and forecast calculations, which are prepared separately for each of the Group’s CGUs to which the individual
agsets are allocated.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is an indication
that previously recognised impairment losses no longer exist or have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group
estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount, A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there
has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss
was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount,
nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the income statement unless the asset is carried
at a revalved amount, in which case, the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase,

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each CGU (or group of CGUs) to which
the goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.

3.19 Cash and short-term deposits

Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term
deposits with a maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. For the
purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits,
as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.
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3.20 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it
is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. When the Group expects some or all of a provision to
be reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only
when the reimbursement is virtnally certain. The expense relating to a provision is presented in the income statement
net of any reimbursement. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current
pre-tax rate that reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in
the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

Onerous contracts

If the Group has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation under the contract is recognised and measured as a
provision. However, before a separate provision for an onerous contract is established, the Group recognises any
impairment loss that has occurred on assets dedicated to that contract. An onerous contract is a contract under which
the unavoidable costs (i.e., the costs that the Group cannot avoid because it has the contract) of meeting the obligations
under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it. The unaveidable costs under a
contract reflect the least net cost of exiting from the contract, which is the lower of the cost of fulfilling it and any
compensation or penalties arising from failure to fulfil it.

3.21 Employee benefits

An accrual is made for the estimated liability for employees' entitlement to annual leave and leave passage as a result
of services rendered by eligible employees up to the end of the year.

Provision is also made for the full amount of end of service benefit due to non-UAE national employees in accordance
with Group policy and UAE Labour Law, for their period of service up to the end of the year. The accrual relating to
annual leave and leave passage is disclosed as a current liability, while the provision relating to end of service benefit
is disclosed as a non-current liability.

Pension contributions are made in respect of UAE national employees to the UAE General Pension and Social security
Authority in accordance with the UAE Federal Law No. (2}, 2000 for Pension and Social Security. Such contributions
are charged to the income statement during the employees’ peried of service,

3.22 Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in income statement on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-monetary assets
are recognised as deferred government grant in the statement of financial position and transferred to income statement
on a systematic and rational basis over the usefial lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the group with no future related costs are recognised in income statement in the period
in which they become receivable.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of interest is treated as a government grant, measured as the
difference between proceeds received and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing market interest rates.

Land granted by the Government is recognised at nominal value where there is reasonable assurance that the land will
be received and the Group will comply with any attached conditions, where applicable.

29




Aldar Properties PISC

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2018

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
3.23 Financial instruments — initial recognition and subsequent measurement

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity
instrument of another entity.

Financial assets

All financial assets under the scope of IFRS 9 are required to be subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value
on the basis of the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial assets.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost, if both the following conditions are met:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and
. the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments

of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding,

A financial asset is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, if both of the following conditions
are met:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose ohjective is achieved by both collecting confractual
cash flows and selling financial assets; and
. the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments

of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A financial asset is measured at fair value through profit or loss, unless it is measured at amortised cost or at fair value
through other comprehensive income. However, the Group may make an irrevocable election at initial recognition for
particular investments in equity instruments that would otherwise be measured at fair value through profit or loss to
present subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive income.

On adoption of IFRS 9, the Group reclassified financial assets previously reported as available-for-sale financial assets
amounting to AED 119,39 as investment in financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income in
accordance with the requirements of IFRS 9.

Financial liabilities
ATl financial Habilities are classified and subsequently measured at amortised cost, except for:

. financial lHabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Such liabilities, including derivatives that are liabilities,
are subsequently measured at fair value

. financial Habilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or when
the continuing involvement approach applies

. financial guarantee contracts

. commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest rate

At initial recognition, the Group may firevocably designate a financial liability as measured at fair value through profit
or loss when permitted, or when doing so results in more relevant information, because either:

. it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (sometimes referred to as
'ant accounting mismatch’) that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the
gains and losses on them on different bases; or

. a group of financial liabilities or financial assets and financial liabilities is managed and its performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy,
and information about the Group is provided internally on that basis to the entity's key management personnel.
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3.23 Financial instruments — initial recognition and subsequent measurement continued

Financial liabilities continued

Loans and borrowings

This is the category most relevant to the Group. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. Amortised cost
is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit or loss. This category generally
applies to interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

Embedded derivatives

Where a hybrid contract contains a host that is a financial asset under the scope of IFRS 9, the policy in relation to
classification and measurement, including impairment relating to the financial assets applies to the entire hybrid
confract.

Where a hybrid contract contains a host that is not a financial asset within the scope of IFRS 9, the embedded derivative
is separated from the host and accounted for as a derivative if, and only if:

. the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely refated to the economic
characteristics and risks of the host;

. a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a
derivative, and

* the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss (i.c. a

derivative that is embedded in a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss is not separated).

Where a contract contains one or more embedded derivatives and the host is not a financial asset within the scope of
[FRS 9, the Group may designate the entire hybrid contract as at fair value through profit or loss unless:

. the embedded derivatives do not significantly modify the cash flows that otherwise would be required by the
contract; or
. it is clear with little or no analysis when a similar hybrid instrument is first considered that separation of the

embedded derivatives is prohibited, such as a prepayment option embedded in a loan that permits the holder
to prepay the loan for approximately its amortised cost.

Where it is required by this Standard to separate an embedded derivative from its host, but is unable to measure the
embedded derivative separately either at acquisition or at the end of a subsequent financial reporting period, it shall
designate the entire hybrid contract as at fair value through profit or loss.

Reclassification of financial assets and financial liabilities
Where the Group changes its business model for managing financial assets, it reclassifies all affected financial assets.
An entity shall not reclassify any financial liability.
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3.23 Financial instruments — initial recognition and subsequent measurement continued

Measurement of financial assets and liabilities

Initial measurement

At initial recognition, financial assets and financial Habilities are measured at fair value plus or minus, in the case ofa
financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets
After initial recognition, an entity shall measure a financial asset in accordance with its classification at:

. amortised cost less impairment;
. fair value through other comprehensive income less impairment; or
s fair value through profit or loss.

Impairment is assessed on the financial assets measured at amortised cost and at fair value through other
comprehensive income as disclosed below.

Hedge accounting requirements disclosed below applies to financial assets designated as hedged item.

Impairment of financial assets

In relation to the impairment of financial assets, the-Group applies the Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”) model as opposed
to an incurred credit loss model. Under the expected credit loss model, the Group accounts for expected credit losses
and changes in those expected credit losses at the end of each reporting period to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition of the financial assets. It is not necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are
recognised,

A Toss allowance for expected credit losses is recognised on all classes of financial assets, other than those that are
measured as fair value through profit or foss and equity instruments classified and measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income. The financial assets subject to impairment requirements of IFRS 9, imclude:

. debt investments subsequently measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive
income;

. trade receivables;

s lease receivables;

. contract assets; and

. Toan commitments and financial guarantee contracts.

The Group has adopted the simplified approach for measuring the impairment on trade receivables, lease receivables
and contract assets. Under the simplified approach, the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to
lifetime ECL.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount
equal to 12 months ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition instead of on evidence of a financial
asset being credit-impaired at the end of the reporting period or an actual default occurring.

In Hne with IFRS 9 transition provisions, the Group has elected to record any adjustment to its retained earnings as at
1 January 2018 to reflect the application of the requirements in relation to impairment and measurement at the date of
adoption without restating comparative information. The adoption of IFTRS 9 did not have any impact on the opening
retained earnings of the Group.
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3.23 Financial instruments — initial recognition and subsequent measurement continued

Impairment of financial assets continned

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the end of the reporting period with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. Irrespective of
the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if

® the financial instrument has a low risk of default;
e the borrower has a strong capacity to meef its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and
° adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce

the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of
‘investment grade’ as per globally understood definition.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase i credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the following criteria are highly doubtful of
collection, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate:

° when there is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty, or
s information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay
its creditors, including the Group, in full.

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and
loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as described above. As for the
exposure at default for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date.

Where lifetime ECL is measured on a collective basis to cater for cases where evidence of significant increases in
credit risk at the individual instrument level may not yet be available, the financial instruments are grouped for the
assessment of the expected credit loss. The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents
of each group continue to share similar credit risk characteristics.

The management reviewed and assessed the Group’s existing financial assets for impairment, as at 1 January 2018,
using reasonable and supportable information that is available, in accordance with the guidance included in IFRS 9, to
determine the credit risk associated with the respective financial assets, Based on this assessment, the management
believes that there is no material impact on the carrying values of the financial assefs as at 1 January 2018.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
3.23  Financial instruments — initial recognition and subsequent measurement continued
Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

. The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired
Or
. The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay

the received cash flows in fufl without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferted asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to

repay.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the Habilities simultaneously.

3.24 Derivative finaneial instruments and hedge accounting

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instraments, such as forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps, to hedge
its foreign currency risks and interest rate risks, respectively. Such derivative financial instruments are initially
recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at
fair value. Derivatives are carried as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as financial liabilities when
the fair value is negative.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

. Fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability or
an unrecognised firm commitment
. Cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a

particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction or the
foteign currency risk in an unrecognised firm commitment
. Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the hedge relationship to which
it wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
3.24 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting continued

Fair value hedges

The change in the fair value of a hedging instrument is recognised in the statement of profit or loss as other expense.
The change in the fair value of the hedged item attributable to the risk hedged is recorded as part of the carrying value
of the hedged item and is also recognised in the statement of profit or loss as other expense. For fair value hedges
relating to items carried at amortised cost, any adjustment to carrying value is amortised through profit or loss over
the remaining term. of the hedge using the EIR method. The ETR amortisation may begin as soon as an adjustment
exists and no later than when the hedged item ceases to be adjusted for changes in its fair value attributable to the risk
being hedged. If the hedged item is derecognised, the unamortised fair value is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

When an unrecognised firm commitment is designated as a hedged item, the subsequent cumulative change in the fair
value of the firm commitment attributable to the hedged risk is recognised as an asset or liability with a corresponding
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in OCI in the cash flow hedge reserve,
while any ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss. The cash flow hedge reserve
is adjusted to the lower of the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument and the cumulative change in fair
value of the hedged item.

If cash flow hedge accounting is discontinued, the amount that has been accumulated in OCI must remain in
accumulated OCI if the hedged future cash flows are still expected to occur. Otherwise, the amount will be immediately
reclassified to profit or foss as a reclassification adjustment. After discontinuation, once the hedged cash flow occurs,
any amount remaining in accumulated OCI must be accounted for depending on the nature of the wnderlying
transaction as described above.

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result
in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or labilities affected in future periods.

4.1 Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, which
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Discount rate used for initial measurement of lease lability

The Group, as a lessee, measures the lease [ability at the present value of the unpaid lease payments at the
commencement date. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be
readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Incremental borrowing rate is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and
with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use assets in similar
economic environment.

The Group determines its incremental borrowing rate with reference to its existing and historical cost of borrowing
adjusted for the term and security against such borrowing,
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY continued

4.1 Judgements continued

Classification of propertics

In the process of classifying properties, management has made various judgements, Judgement is needed to determine
whether a property qualifies as an investment property, property, plant and equipment and / or property held for sale.
The Group develops criteria so that it can exercise that judgement consistently in accordance with the definitions of
investment property, property, plant and equipment and property held for sale. In making its judgement, management
considered the detailed criteria and related guidance for the classification of properties as set out in IAS 2, IAS 16 and
IAS 40, and in particular, the intended usage of property as determined by the management.

Judgements in relation to contracts with customers

Satisfuction of performance obligations

The Group is required to assess each of its contracts with customers to determine whether performance obligations are
satisfied over time or at a point in time in order to determine the appropriate method for recognising revenue. The
Group has assessed that based on the contracts entered into with customers and the provisions of relevant laws and
regulations, the Group recognises revenue over time in the following circumstances:

a) where contracts are entered into for development (sale of properties to customers), the Group does not create
an asset with an alternative use to the Group and has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date;

by where contracts are entered into for construction (to construct an asset for the customer), the Group’s
performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; and
¢) where contracts are entered into to provide services (property management and facility management), the

customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs.

Where the above criteria are not met, revenue is recognised at a point in time. Where revenue is recognised at a point
of time, the Group assesses each contract with customers to determine when the performance obligation of the Group
under the contract is satisfied.

Determination of transaction prices

The Group is required to determine the transaction price in respect of each of its contracts with customers. In making
such judgement the Group assesses the impact of any variable consideration in the contract, due to discounts or
penalties, the existence of any significant financing component and any non-cash consideration in the contract.

In determining the impact of variable consideration, the Group uses the “most-likely amount” method in TFRS 15
whereby the transaction price is determined by reference to the single most likely amount in a range of possible
consideration amounts.

Transfer of control in contracts with customers

In cases where the Group determines that performance obligations are satisfied at a point in time, revenue is recognised
when control over the assets is transferred to the customer or benefits of the services being provided is received and
consumed by the customer. In the case of contracts to sell real estate assets this is generally when the consideration
for the unit has been substantially received and there are no impediments in the handing over of the unit to the customer.

Identifying whether an acquisition is a business or an asset

For acquisitions made by the Group, the Group needs to make significant judgement to assess whether the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed constitutes a business and whether it has acquired control of one or more businesses.
Where such an acquisition does not constitute a business, the acquisition is accounted for as an asset acquisition. In
making this assessment, the Group applies the definition of business under IFRS 3 which requires that the Group
determines whether it has acquired integrated processes which when applied to inputs, have the ability to produce

outputs.
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDEGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY continuned
4,2 Estimates and assumptions

The key assumnptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year, are described below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the
consolidated financial statements were prepared, Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments,
however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Group. Such
changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

Allocation of fransaction price to performance obligation in contracts with customers

The Group has elected to apply the input method in allocating the transaction price to performance obligations where
revenue is recognised over time. The Group considers that the use of the input method, which requires revenue
recognition on the basis of the Group’s efforts to the satisfaction of performance obligation, provides the best reference
of revenue actually earned. In applying the input method, the Group estimates the efforts or inputs to the satisfaction
of a performance obligation. In addition to the cost of meeting contractual obligation to the customers, these estimates
mainly include:

a) For development contracts, the cost of development and related infrastructure;
b) For construction contracts, the certified works as evaluated by project consultant; and
c) For services contracts, the time elapsed.

Impairment of financinl assets

The Group assesses the impairment of its financial assets based on the Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”) model. Under
the expected credit loss model, the Group accounts for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit
losses at the end of each reporting period to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial
assets. The Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime ECL for its financial instruments.

The Group measures the expected credit losses of a financial instrument in a way that reflects:

° an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes;
° the time value of money; and
e reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date

about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Expected credit losses are measured for the maximum contractual period over which the entity is exposed to credit
risk,

Fair value of investment properties and investment properties under development
The fair value of investment properties is determined by independent real estate valuation experts using recognised
valuation methods. These methods comprise the Residual Value Method, and the Income Capitalisation Method.

The Residual Value Method requires the use of estimates such as future cash flows from assets (comprising of selling
and leasing rates, future revenue streams, construction costs and associated professional fees, and financing cost, etc.),
targeted internal rate of retwrn and developer’s risk and targeted profit. These estimates are based on local market
conditions existing at the end of the reporting period.

Under the Income Capitalisation Approach, the income receivable under existing lease agreements and projected future
rental streams are capitalised at appropriate rates to reflect the investment market conditions at the valuation dates.

37




Aldar Properties PISC

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2018

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY continued

4.2 Estimates and assumptions continued
Fair value of investment properties and investment properties under development continued
Such estimations are based on certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from

the actual results.

The key assumptions used are as follows:

Range %
Targeted internal rate of return 9-16
Rental yield 7-12

Estimation of net realisable value for inventory and development work in progress

Properties held for sale and properties classified under development work in progress are stated at the lower of cost or
net realisable value (NRV). NRV is assessed with reference to sales prices, costs of completion and advances received
and market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period. For certain properties, NRV is determined by the
Group having taken suitable external advice and in the light of recent market transactions, where available.

Tinpairment of property, plant and equipment and capital work in progress

Properties classified under property, plant and equipment and capital work in progress are assessed for impairment
when there is an indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. An impairment review is carried out by
determining the recoverable amount which takes into account the fair value of the property under consideration, The
fair value of hotel properties classified under property, plant and equipment is determined by an independent real estate
valuation expert using Discounted Cash Flow method.

C'ash flows are determined with reference to recent market conditions, prices existing at the end of the reporting period,
contractual agreements and estimations over the useful lives of the assets and discounted using a range of discounting
rates that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 'The net
present values are compared to the carrying amounts to assess any probable impairment.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and infangible assets

Management reviews the residual values and estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets at the end of each annual reporting period in accordance with IAS 16 and TAS 38. Management determined that
current year expectations do not differ from previous estimates based on its review.

Valuation of unquofed investments

Valuation of unquoted equity investments is normally based on recent market transactions on an arm’s length basis,
fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, expected cash flows discounted at current rates for
stmilar instruments or other valuation models.

Impairment of investments in/ receivable from joint ventures and associates

Management regularly reviews its investments in joint ventures and associates for indicators of impairment. This
determination of whether investments in joint ventures and associates are impaired, entails Management’s evaluation
of the specific investee’s profitability, liquidity, solvency and ability to generate operating cash flows from the date of
acquisition and until the foreseeable future. The difference between the estimated recoverable amount and the carrying
value of investment and/ or receivable is recognised as an expense in income statement. Management is satistied that
no additional impairment is required on its investments in associates and joint ventures (note 9) and it’s receivables
from associates and joint ventures (note 11.5) in excess of amount already provided.
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5 BUSINESS COMBINATION

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company signed a framework agreement (the "Agreement") with
Tourism Development Investment Company PISC (“TDIC”) to acquire a portfolio of real estate assets, including
limited liability companies, operating businesses and other assets for a total consideration AED 3,625,000 thougand
as given below.

AED 000
Operating Businesses (notes 5.2 and 5.3) and other assets 1,575,000
Projects under development and lands 2,050,000
3,625,000

The acquisition comprised of assets and businesses across hospitality, retail, residential, district cooling and education
sectors. The aforementioned acquisition is a part of the Group’s strategic plan to profitably deploy capital to expand
its portfolio. Based on the Agreement, the effective date of acquisition of assets and control over the Operating
Businesses acquired has been determined as 1 May 2018.

51 Operating Businesses

Under the Agreement, the Operating Businesses acquired, included the acquisition of certain legal entities (listed in
5.1.1 below) and other businesses (listed in 5.1.2 below) acquired from TDIC. The Operating Businesses meet the
definition of “Business” under IFRS 3.

5.1.1  Legal entities acquired

Country of
Chwnership incorporation
Name interest operation Principal activity
TDIC Food & Beverage
~ Sole Proprictorship LLC 160% UAE Restaurant management
TDIC Education - Sole Propristorship LLC 100% UAE Educational activities
Saadiyat District Cooling LLC 100% UAE Cooling station operations
Saadiyat Cooling LLC 85% UAE Cooling station operations
5.1.2  Other businesses acquired
Name Principal activity
Saadiyat Beach Club Beach club
Eastern Mangroves Hotel & Spa Hotel and hospitality services
The Westin Abu Dhabi Golf Resort & Spa Hotel and hospitality services
Abu Dhabi Golf Club Golf club
Saadiyat Beach Golf Club Golf club
Eastern Mangroves Retail and Marina Retail units and marina
Marsa Al Bateen Retail and Marina Retail units and marina

For the above Operating Businesses, control has been transferred to the Group under the Agreement from the effective
date. The country of operation of all the other businesses is UAE.

The Operating Businesses acquired represent business combinations under IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” and have
been accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting, and accordingly, the identiftable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed forming part of business combination, has been recognised at its respective fair values, as of 1 May
2018. The remaining assets were accounted for and classified as additions of assets by their nature.

The Group elected to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree at the proportionate share of its interest in
the acquiree's identifiable net assets at fair value.
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5 BUSINESS COMBINATION continued

52 Assets acquired and the liabilities assumed of the Operating Businesses

Acquisition date fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and Jiabilities assumed of the operating Businesses, as
well as the fair value of the non-controlling interest in one of the acquired entities, Saadiyat Cooling LLC were
determined as follows:

Fair values

recognised
Notes AED '000
Assets
Property, plant and equipment 6 810,145
Intangible assets (iv) 7 179,809
Investment properties ] 166,053
Inventories 6,220
Trade and other receivables 103,190
Cash and bank balances 136,663
Total assets 1,402,080
Liabilities
Advances from customers 8,110
Trade and other payables 167,562
Total liabilities 175,672
Total identifiable net assets at fair value - 1,226,408
Non-controlling interest measured at fair value (i) (41,101}
Group's share of net assets acquired 1,185,307
Less: Purchase consideration (1,070,376}
Bargain purchase gain, net of goodwill 114
Goodwill (i) 7 (17,860)
Gain on business combination (iii) 29 132,791
114,931
(i) This represent non-controfling interest in Saadiyat Cooling LLC which is measured at 15% of net assets at
fair value.

(ii) Goodwill of AED 17,860 thousand arising from the acquisition comprises largely of the sales growth, new
customers and expected synergies. Goodwill is allocated to asset management segment only.

(iii) The gain on business combination is included in other income and arises from the difference between the fair
value of the net assets acquired of the Operating Businesses forming part of business combination and
consideration paid.
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5 BUSINESS COMBINATION continued
5.2 Assets acquired and the liabilities assumed of the Operating Businesses continued

(iv) The fair value of the acquired identifiable intangible assets of AED 179,809 thousand recognised as part of
business combination, represents long term non-cancellable contracts with customers for the supply of district
cooling services that are valued based on the present value of expected future cash flows that will be generated
over its remaining useful life.

As of 1 May 2018, the fair value of the trade receivables acquired amounts to AED 73,411 thousand. None of the
trade receivables have been impaired and it is expected that the full contractual amounts can be collected.

5.3 Analysis of cashflow on acquisition for the Operating Business
AED 000

Cash paid for the acquisition (1,065,000)
Net cash acquired on business combination 136,663
Acquisition of Operating Business - net of cash acquired

(included in cash flows from investing activities) {928.337)
Transaction costs of the acquisition

(included in cash flows from operating activities) (4.4006)
Net cash outflow on acquisition 32,7

The fair value of the contingent consideration of AED 40,898 thousand was estimated by applying an income approach.
The fair value measurement is based on significant inputs that are not observable in the market, which IFRS 13 “Fair
Value Measurement” refers to as level 3 inputs. Key assumptions include a discount rate of 9.7% and probable revenue
of ALD 60,990 thousand. As of 31 December 2018, neither the amount recognised for the contingent consideration
arrangement, nor the range of outcomes, or the assumptions used to develop the estimates, had changed.

Acquisition related costs amounted to AED 4,406 thousand in relation to acquisition of Operating Businesses were
expensed during the period and are included in general and administrative expenses.

From the date of acquisition, the Operating Businesses, forming part of business combination, contributed revenue of
AED 269,096 thousand and net loss of AED 2,887 thousand towards the operations of the Group, If the acquisition
had taken place at the beginning of the year, revenue would have been AED 415,386 thousand and net profit would
have been AED 19,728 thousand. These numbers represent the amounts before intra group and consolidation
adjustments.

The net assets recognised in the 30 June 2018 and 30 September 2018 interim condensed consolidated financial
statements were based on a provisional assessment of their fair values. In December 2018, the assessment was finalised
and there were no material differences between the provisional and final fair values to be adjusted and disclosed in
these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2018

6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued

The depreciation charge for the year has been allocated as follows:

2018 2017

AED’000 AED’000

Direct cost 12,665 10,563
General and administrative expenses 221,422 182,137
234,087 192,700

During the year, the Group carried out a review of recoverable value of its property, plant and equipment. The review
led to a net reversal of impajrment of AED 22,507 thousand (2017: AED 1,341 thousand} (note 26), which has been
recorded in the consolidated income statement. The recoverable value of relevant assets has been determined by
reference to the discounted cash flow method using a yield of 7.0% to 9.0% (2017: 7.5% to 9.0%) and a discount rate
of 10.25% to 15.0% (2017: 10.25% to 13.0%).

The Group conducted a sensitivity analysis for all its hotel properties classified under property, plant and equipmendt.
The sensitivity has been conducted on the Revenue Per Available Room (RevPAR), and discount rate and exit yield.

Based on this sensitivity analysis:

® a decrease in the Discount Rate & Exit Yield by 50bps would result in AED 167,820 thousand or 7.3%
increase in the recoverable value, whilst an increase in the Discount Rate & Exit Yield by 50bps would result
in AED 147,640 thousand or 6.4% decrease in the recoverable value.

° an increase in the RevPAR by 10% would result in AED 277,980 thousand or 12.0% increase in the
recoverable value, whilst a decrease in the RevPAR by 10% would result in AED 266,370 thousand or 1 1.5%
decrease in the recoverable value
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7 INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL
Customer Computer
Goodwill contracts saftware Total
AED AED'060 AED000 AEIY'060
2018
Cost:
I January 2018 - - 82,949 82,949
Additions - . 4,064 4,064
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 5) 17,860 179,809 - 197,66%
Disposals - - (1.101) (1,101}
31 December 2018 17,860 175,809 85,912 283,581
Accumulated amortisation;
1 January 2018 - - 77,845 77,845
Charge for the year - 5,648 3,072 8,720
Disposal - - (1,101) (1,101)
31 December 2018 - 5,048 79.816 85,464
Carrying amount;
31 December 2018 17,860 174,161 _6,0%6 198117
2017
Cost:
1 January 2017 - - 77,973 71,973
Additions - - 4.976 4.976
31 December 2017 - - 82.949 82,949
Accumutated amortisation:
1 January 2017 - - 74,006 74,006
Charge for the year - - 3.839 3,839
31 December 2017 - - 77.843 77845
Carrying amount:
31 December 2017 — - i _5.104 5,104

Goodwill
Goodwill primarily comprises sales growth, new customers and expected synergies arising from the acquisition.
Goodwill is allocated to asset management segment only. The calculation of value in use was sensitive to the following

assumptions:

Gross margins - Gross margins were based on the expectations of management based on past experience, new
initiatives and expectation of future market conditions.

Discount rates - Discount rates reflected management’s estimate of the specific risks. The discount was based on the
risk free rate of the investment’s country, market risk premium related to the industry and individual investment related
risk premium/ discount. Management estimated that such discount rate to be used for the evaluation of the investment
should be between 12 to 13%.

Growth rates — Management prepared five year budget based on their expectations of future results, thereafter a growth
rate of 3% was assumed.

Custoner confracts
These mainly represent long term non-cancellable contracts with customers for the supply of district cooling services

which were acquired during the year as part of the acquisition.
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7 INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL continued

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

With regard to the assessment of value in use of the Goodwill, management believes that no reasonably possible
change in key assumption would cause the carrying values to materially exceed its recoverable amount.

8 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties comprise completed properties (buildings and retail centers) and investment properties under
development (IPUD). The movement during the year is as follows:

2018 2007
Froperties Properties
Completed wnder Completed under
praperties  development Toial praperties  development Total
AED’600 AED'600 AED000 AED'600 AED'008 AED000
Balance at the beginning of the year 15,126,457 950,092 16,076,549 14,929,374 843,908 15,773,282
Addition duzring the year, net 549,425 182,852 732,277 623,006 271,205 894211
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 5) 166,053 - 166,053 - - -
Finance cost capitalised (note 28) - - - - 213 213
Tair value loss, net {671,046) - (671,046) {613,107y - {613,107)
Disposals {102) - (102) (11,259) - {11,25%)

Transfers frony (to):

Completed propertiss! TPUD - - - 165,234 (165,234) -
Inventories 83,544 83,544 - - -
Property, plant and equipment (note 6) 25,700 - 25,700 26,849 26,849
Development work in progress (nole 12) - {4.672) (4,672) 6,360 - 6,360
Balance at the end of the year 15,280,031 1128272 16408303 15126457 950,092 16,076,549

All investment properties are located in the United Arab Emirates.

The fair values of the investment properties including properties under development are artived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out by independent valuers not connected with the Group. The valuers are members of professional
valuers® associations and have appropriate qualifications and experience in the valuation of properties at the relevant
locations. The valuations were mainly determined by using the Income Capitalisation Method. The valuation has been
conducted as at 31 October 2018; management believes that there have been no significant changes to the fair values
of investment properties’ fair values from 31 October 2018 to 31 December 2018. Refer to note 4.2 for the key
assumptions used.

The Group conducted a sensitivity analysis for eleven largest assets in its investment property portfolio with an
aggregate value of AED 12,352,336 thousand. The sensitivity has been conducted on the Capitalisation Rates and
Rental Values. Based on this sensitivity analysis:

° a decrease in the capitalisation/ discount Rate by 50bps would result in a AED 1,402,782 thousand or 11.4%
increase in the valuation, whilst an increase in the capitalisation/ discount Rate by 50bps would result in AED
1,109,153 thousand 9.0% decrease in the valuation.

) an increase in the rental rates by 10% would result in an AED 1,335,042 thousand or 10.8% increase in the
valuation, whilst a decrease in the rental rates by 10.8% would result in AED 1,334,044 thousand or 10.8%
decrease in the valuation.

1t should be noted that discount rates and capitalization rates are different than interest rates as commonly applied to
borrowing rates or cost of short term and long-term debt. Discount rates and capitalization rates are carefully derived
by professional values in determining the fair market value of propesties by using multiple valuation factors. There are
interrelationships between the unobservable inputs which are generally defermined by market conditions. The valuation
may be affected by the interrelationship between the two noted unobservable inputs; for example, an increase in rent
may be offset by an increase in the capitalisation rate, thus resulting in no net impact on the valuation. Similarly, an
increase in rent in conjunction with a decrease in the capitalisation rate would amplify an increase in the value. The
investment properties are categorised under Level 3 in the fait value hierarchy.
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Aldar Properties PISC

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2018

9 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES continued

Latest available financial information in respect of the Group’s associates is summarised below:

2018 2017

AED 000 ALED'000

Total assets 2,050,296 2,138,509
Total liabilities (1.456.112) (1,486.867)
Net assets 4,18 _ 651,642
Group’s share of net assets of associates 190,570 _ 207,751
Total revenue _ 104,731 104,821
Total profit for the year — 23,041 _ 11,400

Latest available financial information in respect of the Group’s joint ventures is summarised below:

2018 2017

AED’000 AED’000

Total assets 2,453,647 2,511,631
Total liabilities (1,471,641} {1.567.800)
Net assets 982,006 _ 943,831
Group’s share of net assets of joint ventures 802,961 __749.880
Total revenue 307,560 _ 362,095
Total profit for the year 84,785 __91,838

10 INVESTMENT IN FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

As at 31 December 2018, the below investments were classified as investment in financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income in accordance with IFRS 9. As at 31 December 2017, these investments were classified
as available-for-sale financial assets in accordance with IAS 39.

2018 2017

AED’000 AED'000

Investment in JAE quoted securities 38,950 28,000
Investment in UAE unquoted securities 15,202 35,201
Investment in international unquoted securities 41,964 56,188
96,116 _ 119339
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16 INVESTMENT IN FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, continued

Movement during the year is as follows:

2018 2017

AED 000 AED 000

Balance at the beginning of the year 119,389 126,448

Additions 14,420 -

(Loss)/ gain on revaluation during the year (9,355) 5,913
Repayment of capital (28,338) (12,972)

Balance at the end of the year 96,116 119,389

During the year, dividend income received from these investments amounted to AED 5,415 thousand (31 December
2017: AED 5,155 thousand).

11 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2018 2017
AED 000 AED’000
Non-current portion
Receivables relating to project finance (note 11.3) 136,016 143,546
Receivables from the Government of Abu Dhabi (note 11.4) 95,000 190,000
Due from associates and joint ventures {note 11.5) 176,776 172,722
Others 88.914 10.694
496,706 517,362
Less: allowance for expected credit loss (note 11.8) (97,704) (90.151)
399,002 _A27211
Current portion
Trade receivables (note 1.1} 1,827,753 1,723,551
Refundable costs (note 11.2) 478,923 505,402
Receivables relating to project finance (note 11.3) 14,941 19,932
Receivables from the Govermment of Abu Dhabi (note 11.4) 279,258 439,995
Due from associates and joint ventures (note 11.5) 25,707 290,536
Gross amoutits due from customers on contracts for
sale of properties (note 11.6) 1,096,306 748,197
Gross amounts due from customers on contracts to
construct an asset (note 11.7) 49,397 112,459
Advances and prepayments 1,109,827 979,776
Accrued interest 42,572 66,355
Others 475,259 357,843
5,399,943 5,244,046
Less: allowance for expected credit foss (note 11.8) (329.498) {318,597)
2,070,445 4925449
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11 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES continued

11.1 Trade receivables

Trade receivables mainly represent the amounts due in respect of sales of plots of land, properties and revenue from
construction contracts. As at 31 December 2018, 25% of the trade receivables (2017: 18% of the trade receivables) are
due from its top five customers. Concentration of credit risk is mitigated by the fact that the customers have already

made instalment payments, in some cases substantial, on the plots, which the Group woul

d contractually be entitled to

retain in the event of non-completion of the remaining contractual obligations in order to cover fosses incurred by the

Group.

Trade receivables
Less: provision for impairment (note 11.8)

2018
AED’000

1,827,753
313,367

1,514,386

2017
AED’000

1,723,551
(302.466)

1,421,083

Tnterest is charged at 12% per annum on the past due amounts in respect of sales of plots and properties. The ageing

of unimpaired receivables is as follows:

Ageing of rade receivables
Not past due
Past due (more than 180 days)

11.2 Refundable costs

2018
AED’G00

1,009,102
505.284

514

2007
AED’000

853,974
567,111

1,421,085

e

Refundable costs represent costs incurred on behalf of the Government of Abu Dhabi in relation to development of
infrastructure of various projects and real estate developments.

11.3 Receivables relating to project finance

Current receivables
Within one year

Non-current receivables
In the second to fifth year
After five years

Amounts receivable from project finance
Less: unearned finance income

Present value of minimum payments receivable

Minimun payments
2018 2017
AED’000 AED000
24,535 28915
58,657 71,490
254.401 243,854
313,058 315344
337,593 344,259
(186,636) (180,381)
150,957 163,878

Present value of minimum

paymtents
2018 2017
AED’000 AED000
14,941 19.932
26,308 40,305
109.708 103,641
136,016 143.946
150,957 163,878
150,957 163,878
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11 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES continued
11.4 Receivable from the Government of Abu Dhabi

Receivables from the Government of Abu Dhabi represent the amounts receivable against assets sold and land plots
handed over.

11.5 Due from associates and joint ventures

Non-crirrert Current

2018 2017 2018 2017
AED’000 AED000  AED’000 AED 000

Gross receivables 176,776 172,722 25,707 290,536
Less: allowance for expected credit losses (note 11.8) (97.704) (90,151) (16.,131) (16.131)

79,072 32571 9,576 274,405

116 Gross amounts due from/ (due to) customers on contracts for sale of properties

2018 2017
AED0O0 AED GO0
Amount due from customers included in
trade and other receivables (note 11) 1,096,306 748,197
Amount due to customers included in
trade and other payables (note 21) - (221.497)
1,096,306 526,700
Total contracts cost incurred plus recognised
profits less recognised losses to date 2,858,209 3,335,293
Less: total progress billings to date (1,761,903) (2,808.593)
1,096,306 526,700

With respect to the above contracts, revenue aggregating to AED 3,270,193 thousand is expected to be recognised
over the term of these contracts.
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11 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES continued

11.7 Gross amounts due from/ (due to) customers on construction contracts

2018 2017
AED000 AED D00
Amount due from customess included in
trade and other receivables (note 11) 49,397 112,459
Amount due to customers included in
trade and other payables (note 21) {41.478) (92,611)
7,919 _ 19,848
Total contracts cost incurred plus recognised
profits less recognised losses to date 3,859,198 5,989,379
Less: total progress billings to date (3.851,279) (5.969,531)
_ 7919 _ 19,848

The above amount represents unbilled revenue arising from construction contracts. With respect to the above coniracts,
revenue aggregating to AED 658,828 thousand is expected to be recognised over the period of these coniracts.

11.8 Allowance for expected credit loss

Movement during the year in allowance of expected credit loss:

Trade recefvables
2018 2017
AED000 AED 000
Balance at the beginning of the year 302,466 327,556
Charge/ (reversal) for the year, net (note 26) 28,970 (9,544)
Release of provision, net {18,069) (15,546)
Balance at the end of the year 313,367 302,466
Due from associates and joint ventures
2018 2017
AED000 AED000
Balance at the beginning of the year 106,282 133,729
Charge for the year 7,553 7,553
Reversal of provision - (35,000
Balance at the end of the year 113,835 . 106282
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11 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES continued
11.8  Allowance for expected credit loss continued
The Group recognises lifetime expected credit foss (ECL) for trade and other receivables using the simplified approach.

To determine the expected credit losses all debtors were classified into four categories and the ECL rate for each
category was determined using a provision matrix:

. Category 1 - government related companies (0%);

. Category II — private companies with low credit risk (1% to 20%};

. Category III — private companies with high credit risk (20% to 60%); and
. Category IV — debtors at default (100%)

These were adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money,

where appropriate,
12 DEVELOPMENT WORK IN PROGRESS

Development work in progress represents development and construction costs incurred on properties being constructed
for sale. Movement during the year is as follows:

2018 2017

AED)00 AED 000

Balance at beginning of the year 1,476,818 1,298,384

Development costs incurred during the year 2,520,606 1,345,537
Recognised in costs of properties sold (1,307.628) (1,144,971)

Transfers from land held for sale 144,505 107,042
Transfers from/ (to) inventories (note 13) {359,033) (112,600)
Transfers from/ (to) investment properties (note ) 4,672 {(6,360)
Transfer to property, plant and equipment (note 6) (3,218) (8,150)
Write-off of project costs (note 26) (3.348) (2.064)
Balance at the end of the year 2.473.374 1,476,818

All development work in progress projects are located in the United Arab Emirates.
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13 INVENTORIES

2018 2017

AED Q00 AED 000

Completed properties 402,190 228,681
Other operating inventories 66,954 57,920
469,144 __ 286,601

During the year, properties with an aggregate value of AED 359,033 thousand were transferred to inventories upon
completion (note 12).

Completed properties in inventories are located in the United Arab Emirates.

14 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2018 2017

AED 000 AED 000

Cash and bank balances 3,313,498 2,452,164

Short term deposits held with banks 1,701,109 4,433,322

Cash and bank balances 5,014,607 6,885,486
Short term deposits with original maturities greater than three months (878,000) (3,286,578)
Restricted bank balances (2,742,249) (2.682.001)
Cash and cash equivalents 394,35 _ 916907

During the year, the Group held amounts related to one of its associates in addition to community service charges and
security deposits on behalf of the owners of units in certain buildings or communities that are managed by the Group.
As at 31 December 2018, cash at banks amounting to AED 624,421 thousand (2017: AED 589,214 thousand) are not
included in the Group’s bank balances as it is held by the Group on behalf of third parties. Restricted cash and bank
include balances amounting to AED 1,159,502 thousand (2017 AED 1,167,727 thousand) which are deposited into
escrow accounts representing cash received from customers against sale of development properties. The remaining
balance of restricted cash balances mainly represents cash balances held against government projects and dividend
payables for which separate banlk accounts are maintained.

The interest rate on term deposits ranges between 0.4% and 3.5% (2017: 0.4% and 2.70%) per annum. All fixed
deposits are placed with local banks in the United Arab Emirates.

15 SHARE CAPITAL

Share capital comprises 7,862,629,603 (2017: 7,862,629,603) authorised, issued and fully paid up ordinary shares with
a par value of AED 1 each.

16 STATUTORY RESERVE

TIn accordance with its Atticles of Association and the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, 10% of the profit of the
Company is transferred fo a statutory reserve that is non-distributable. Transfers to this reserve may be suspended
whenever the reserve reaches 50% of the paid-up share capital of the Company. As the reserves reaches 50% of the
paid-up capital, the Company has suspended farther transfer.
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31 December 2018

17 NON-CONVERTIBLE SUKUK

2018 2017

AEDO00 AED 000

Proceeds from issue 1,836,750 2,755,125
Gross issue costs (27,062) (18,580)

Less: amortisation of issue costs 452 16,042
Unamortised issue costs {26.,610) (2.538)

Add: Accrued profit ' 21,811 9,983

Carrying amount 1,831,951 2,762,570
Less: current portion (21,811) (2,762,570)
Non-current portion 1,810,140 -
110

|

|

Total finance cost capitalised during the year - - —

T December 2013, the Group issued non-convertible Sukuk ([jarah) notes for a total value of AED 2,755,125 thousand
(USD 750,000 thousand). The Sukuk had a profit rate of 4.348% per annum payable semi-annually and was due for
settlement in December 2018, out of which USD 295,465 thousand was settled on 1 October 2018 and the balance of

Sulkuk was settled on 3 December 2018,

On | October 2018, the Group issued non-convertible Sukuk (Al Wakala) notes for a total value of AED 1,836,750
thousand (USD 500,000 thousand). The Sukuk has a profit rate of 4.750% per annum payable semi-annually and is
due for settlement in September 2025,
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Aldar Properties PISC

N70TES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2018

18 BANK BORROWINGS continued

The borrowings are repayable as follows:

2018 2017

AEDO00 AED GO0

Current 358,512 817,173
Non-cutrent 4,865,481 2,376,275
223,993 3,193,448

As at 31 December 2017 the Group had AED 1.98 billion in committed revolving credit facilities in the form of
bilateral agreements with five financial institutions all having a maturity of 31 March 2022. In February 2018, the
Group exercised the final option to extend the maturity date of each of these facilities by an additional one year. Banks
representing facilities totalling AED 1.76 billion agreed to extend their facilities to March 2023. As at 31 December
2018, all these facilities remained committed and undrawn.

In May 2018, the Group enfered into a transaction with a financial institution (“Revolving Credit Facility”) that meets
the offseiting criteria under JAS 32. The Revolving Credit Facility involves a Borrowing that is immediately offset
with a Deposit resulting in the presentation of a Net Borrowing in the financial position. As of period end, the Net
Borrowing was AED 2,147,000 thousand (Borrowing of AED 4,912,500 thousand less Deposit of AED 2,765,500
thousand). The Borrowing is un-secured and available for general corporate purposes and carries an interest rate of
the relevant EIBOR +1%. The Borrowing includes partial principle repayments in semi-annual instalments of
AED 31,250 thousand each and a final maturity date of 8 December 2022. The Deposit earns interest at 0.75% plus
relevant EIBOR.

Loan securities are in the form of mortgages over plots of land and operating assets and in the case of one facility,
assignment of project receivables. Certain Group’s borrowings carry a net worth covenant.

Borrowings repaid during the year amounted to AED 4,319,889 thousand (2017: AED 627,592 thousand).

19 PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEES’ END OF SERVICE BENEFIT

Movement in the provision for employees” end of service benefit is as follows:

2018 2017

AEDQ00 AED'G00

Balance at the beginning of the year 141,763 128,137

Acquired through business combination 3,704 -

Charge for the year (note 25) 36,087 26,420
Paid during the year (36,675) (12,794)

Balance at the end of the year 145,479 _ 141,763
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20 OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES/ OTHER FINANCIAL ASSET

The Group has entered into interest rate swap confracts to hedge its exposure to future cash flows due to interest rate
fluctuations. As at 31 December 2018, the notional amount of these derivatives amounted to AED 2,133,450 thousand
{USD 580,530 thousand) with a positive change in fair value (net) of AED 87,571 thousand (2017: AED 2,112
thousand) recorded in the statement of comprehensive income.

21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2018 2017

AED 000 AED GO0

Trade payables 467,694 524,062
Accrual for contractors’ costs 1,738,118 1,651,530
Advances from the Government of Abu Dhabi (note 32) 1,285,612 956,848
Deferred income 363,082 347,528
Dividends payable 91,701 102,803
Provision for onerous contracts 31,501 28,569
Gross amount due to customers on contracts for sale of properties (note 11.6) - 221,497
Gross amount due to customers on contracts to construct an asset (note 11.7) 41,478 92,611
Due to the Government of Abu Dhabi (note 32) 640,657 637,199
Other liabilities 834,438 534,627
494,2 5,397,274

The Group has financial and risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the pre-
agreed credif terms.

22 REVENUE

2018 2017
AED’000 AED'000
Property development and management 2,440,058 2,277,888
Asset management and adjacencies 3,846,475 3,902,788
6,286,533 6,180,676

23 DIRECT COSTS
2018 2017
AED000 AED’000
Property development and management 1,344,714 1,183,242
Asset management and adjacencies 2,319,132 2,341,929
3,654,846 3525171
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24 SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES

2018
AED000
Corporate advertising 19,782
Exhibitions and sponsorships 17,494
Project marketing 48.164
85,440

25 STAFF COSTS
2018
AED’000
Salaries, bonuses and other benefits 799,943
Employees® end of service benefits (note 19) 36,687
Staff training and development 2,740
_ 839,370

Staff costs allocated to;

Direct costs 604,207
General and administrative expenses 218,948
Projects under development 16.215
839,370

26 (PROVISIONS, IMPAIRMENTS AND WRITE DOWNS)/ REVERSAL, NET

2018

AED’000

Reversal for impairment of property, pfant and equipment, net (note 6) 22,507
(Provision)/ reversal of allowance for expected credit loss, net (note 11.8) {28,970)
Receivables write-offs (21,143)
Provision for onerous contracts (12,126)
Write-off of development work in progress {note 12) (3,348)
Others (6,968)
_(50,048)

2017
AED000

27,033
13,418
34,527

_ 74,978

2017
AED’000

2017
AED’000

1,341
9,544

(2,06;)

_8.821
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27 FINANCE INCOME

2018
AED’ 000
Interest/ profit earned on:
Islamic deposits 27,236
Bank fixed deposits 11,942
Call and current accounts 18,536
Total interest/ profit earned 57,714
Financing element earned on receivables, net -
Financing income earned on
receivables from project finance 12,904
Other finance income 9,117
79,735
Finance fncome earned on financial assets, analysed by category of asset is as follows:
2018
AED000
Loans and receivables 22,021
Bank balances and deposits 57,714
79,735
28 FINANCE COSTS
2018
AED000
(Gross costs 287,547
Unwinding of finance cost on
operating lease liability (note 33.2) 19,002
Less: amounts included in the cost of
qualifying assets (i} (note 8) -
306,549
Recycling of hedging reserve loss 3,200
309,749

2017
AED'000

40,542
36,650

6,853
84,045
17,847

13,373
9,377

2017
AED 000

40,597
84,045

124,642

2017
AED’000

228,222
22,292

(213)

250,301
3,952

254253

(i) There was no capitalised borrowing cost during the year ended 31 December 2018. The weighted average

capitalisation rate of funds borrowed in 2017 was 3.6 % per annum.
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29 OTHER INCOME

2018 2007
AED 060 AED 000

Government grant income recorded upon handover
of infrastructure assets (note 32.1) 466,932 390,745
Write back on receivables and cancellation of land plots, net - 41,996

Recovery of amounts previously charged to

consolidated income statement - 73,871
Release of infrastructure accruals, onerous provisions and other accruals 127,088 73,130
Gain on business combination {(note 5) 132,791 -
Others 41,057 52,470
767,868 632212

30 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, As there are no dilutive
instruments outstanding, basic and diluted earnings per share are identical.

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

2018 2017
Earnings (AED ‘000)
Earnings for the purpose of basic and diluted earnings per share
(profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company) 1,855,808 1,995,505
Weighted average number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of
basic and diluted earnings per share 7.862.,629,603 7.862,629.603
Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable
to owners of the Company in AED (.236 _ 0.254

31 DIVIDENDS

At the annual general assembly held on 21 March 2018, the sharecholders approved the recommendation of the Board
of Directors to distribute dividends of AED 12 fils per share for a total of ARD 943,516 thousand. The Board of
Directors propose a cash dividend of AED 14 fils per share for the year ended 31 December 2018, The proposed
dividend is subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the annual general assembly.
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32 TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence
over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. Related parties comprise of major shareholder,
associated companies, directors, key management personne] of the Group and their related entities. The terms of these
transactions are approved by the Group's management and are made on terms agreed by the Board of Directors ot
management.

Related party balances:

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000
Government of Abu Dhabi:
Trade and other receivables 1,066,984 1,312,092
Trade and other payables (640,657) (937,199}
Advances received (note 21) 1, 612 _(956.848)
Major shareholder:
Trade and other receivables 47.685 o -
Trade and other payables _ (13,229 _ -
Due from associates and joint ventures (note 11.5) __ 88,648 356,976
Due to joint ventures for project-related work (32,692) (32,692)

Certain receivables from joint ventures carry interest of 9% per annum and are repayable within 2 to 5 years.

Significant transactions with related parties during the year are as follows:

2018 2017
AED’000 AED000

Government of Abu Dhabi:
Revenue 911,367 _ 906299

Major shareholder:

Revenue 24,876 —_—=
Finance income 6,798 ] -
Finance income from project finance and joint ventures 12,150 19,740
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32 TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES continued
2018 2017
AED’000 AED000

Key management compensation:

Salaries, bonuses and other benefits 10,805 15,275

Post-employment benefits ‘ 1.435 390

12,240 _ 15865

Directors remuneration paid 19,279 __ 23000

32.1 The amount and timing of the infrastructure cost reimbursement is subject to the completion of certain audit
and technical inspections and assessments to be performed by the relevant government authority. Once these
activities are completed, there will be reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and at that point it
will be recognised as a deferred government grant. Once the conditions of the grant are met, i.e. infrastructure
assets are handed over to the designated authorities, the deferred government grant will be recognised income
statement. During the year, an amount of AED 466,932 thousand was recognised as goveriiment grant income
upon handover of infrastruciure assets (31 December 2017: AED 390,745 thousand).

32.2 Outstanding borrowings of AED 3,947,000 thousand (31 December 2017: AED 1,941,635 thousand) are due
to the banks controfled by the Government and major sharcholder. Finance cost on these borrowings
amounted to AED 110,760 thousand for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: AED 81,404 thousand).

32,3 Deposits and bank balances of AED 3,527,049 thousand (31 December 2017; AED 4,045,294 thousand) are
kept with banks controlled by the Government and major shareholder. Finance income on these deposits
amounted to AED 30,415 thousand for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: AED 50,137 thousand).

32.4 Letter of credits and bank guarantees issued through banks controlled by the Government and major
shareholder amounted to AED 361,645 thousand for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: AED 800,1 36
thousand).

33 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

334 Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted but not yet incurred at the end of the year is as follows:

2018 2017

AED’000 AED000

Projects under development 4,135,230 3,468,801
Reimbursable projects works in progress 1,135,018 2,722,701
Others 4,357 30,342
5,274,605 6,221,934

The above commitments are spread over a period of one to five years.

The Group has outstanding advances to the suppliers and contractors amounting to AED 905,749 thousand (2017:
AED 784,485 thousand) against the above commitments.
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33 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES continued
33.2 Operating lease commitments

The Group has leased out certain properties. The amounts of committed future lease inflows are as follows:

The Group as lessor

2018 2017
AED 000 AED'000

Buildings:
Within one year 762,555 900,147
In the second to fifth year 1,434,533 1,671,228
After five years 507,262 598,172
2,704,350 3,169,547

Following the Group election to adopt IFRS-16, the resulting impact on the consolidated income statement and
consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows:

The Group as a lessee

2018 2017
AED’000 AED’000
Unwinding of interest expense during the period on lease liabilities (note 28) 19.002 o 22,292
Expense relating to short-term leases 2.63 28115
Total cash outflow in respect of leases 54,851 __ 25468
33.3 Confingencies
Letters of credit and bank guarantees
2018 2017
AED’000 AED 000
Letters of credit and bank guarantees:
Issued by the Group 839,167 _ 784,166
Group’s share in contingencies of joint ventures and associates 152,052 _ 165765

Included in the above are bank guarantees and letters of credit amount of AED 749,584 thousand (2017: AED 720,039
thousand) pertaining to a construction related subsidiary.

63



Aldar Properties PISC

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F INANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2018

34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
34.1 Significant accounting policies
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of
measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset,

financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

34.2 Categories of finaneial instruments

2018 2017
AED’000 AED000
Financial assets
Investment in financial assets at FVOCI 96,116 119,389
Loans and receivables (including cash and bank balances) 9,388,251 11.258.371
Total 9,484,367 11,377,760
Finaneial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 11,801,451 10,132,555
Derivative instruments 5.802 16,263
Total 11,807,253 10,148,818

34.3 Financial risk management

The Group’s Corporate Finance and Treasury function provides services to the business, coordinates access to
domestic and international financial markets, monitors and manages financial risks based on internally developed
models, benchmarks and forecasts. The Group secks to minimise the effects of financial risks by using appropriate
risk management techniques inchuding using derivative financial instruments to hedge risk exposures. The use of
financial derivatives is governed by management’s analysis of market trends, liquidity position and predicted
movements in interest rate and foreign currency rates which are reviewed by the management on a continuous basis.

The Group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative
purposes.

The Group analyses financial risks under the following captions:
344 Capital risk management

Capital risk is the risk that the Group is not able to manage its capital structure to ensure that all entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going congcem,

The capital structure comprises non-convertible Sukuk, borrowings, cash and bank balances and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued capital, share premium, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The Group monitors and adjusts its capital structure with a view to promote the long-term success of the business
while maintaining sustainable returns for shareholders. This is achieved through a combination of risk management
actions including monitoring solvency, minimising financing costs, rigorous investment appraisals and maintaining
high standards of business conduct,
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued
34.4 Capital risk management continued

Key financial measures that are subject to regular review include cash flow projections and assessment of their ability
to meet contracted commitments, projected gearing levels and compliance with borrowing covenants, although no
absolute fargets are set for these.

The Group monitors its cost of debt on a regular basis, At 31 December 2018, the weighted average cost of debt was
4.01% (2017: 3.60%). Investment and development opportunities are evaluated against an appropriate equity return in
order to ensure that long-term shareholder value is created.

The covenants of seven (2017 nine) borrowing arrangements require the Group maintaining a minimum tangible net
worth. Two loans require a minimum tangible net worth of AED 6 billion and five loans require a minimum tangible
net worth of AED 4 billion.

34.5 Marlet risk management

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial asset or liability will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and other
price risk,

a) Foreign currency risk management

The Group has no significant cross-border trading transactions and therefore, foreign exchange transaction exposure
is negligible. However, it does borrow money in foreign currencies primarily in US Dollars. The Group's currency
exposure therefore is in relation to the repayment of loans and also the translation risk associated with converting
outstanding loan balances back into UAE Dirhams in the Group consolidated financial statements at the end of each
reporting period. The exchange rate between UAE Dirhams and US Dollars is fixed and therefore the Group considers
foreign exchange risk associated with repayment of loans and translation as minimum.

Foreign cirrency sensitivity analysis
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

Liabilifies Assets

2018 2017 2018 2017

AED'000 AED'00D AED000 AED 000

US Dallar 2,849,652 3,612,253 682,291 589,869
Saudi Riyal 9,185 4,072 42,230 10,392
Euro 89 - - -
Pound Sterling 60 134 - -
2,858,986 1,616,459 724,521 600,261

There is no significant impact of the US Dollar as the UAE Dirham is pegged to the US Dollar. Also, the Saudi Riyal
is pegged to the US Dollar,

b) Interest rate risk managenment

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as the Group borrow funds at both fixed and floating interest rates. The risk
is managed by the Group by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate borrowings, by the use of
interest rate swap contracts.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial assets and financial liabilities are detailed in notes 14, 17, and 18.
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued
34.5  Market risk management continued

b) Interest rate visk management continued

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both derivatives and
non-derivative instruments at the end of the reporting period. For floating rate assets and liabilities, the analysis is
prepared assuming the amount of asset or liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period was outstanding for
the whole year.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/ lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit
for the year ended 31 December 2018 would increase/ decrease by AED 35,345 thousand/ AED 35,345 thousand
(2017: increase/ decrease by AED 11,139 thousand/ AED 10,211 thousand).

Inferest rate swap contracts

Under interest rate swap contracts, the Group agrees to exchange the difference between fixed and floating rate interest
amounts calculated on agreed notional principal amounts. Such contracts enable the Group to mitigate the risk of
changing interest rate on the fair value of issued fixed rate debt and the cash flow exposures on the issued variable rate
debt.

Cash flow hedges

All interest rate swap contracts exchanging floating rate interest amounts for fixed rate interest amounts are designated
as cash flow hedges in order to reduce the Group’s cash flow exposure resulting from variable interest rates on
borrowings. The interest rate swaps and the payments on the loan occur simultaneously.

The Group’s derivative financial instruments were contracted with counterparties operating in the United Arab
Emirates.

34.6 Credit risk management

Credit risk in relation to the Group, refers to the risk that a counter party will default on its contractual obligations
resulting in financial loss to the Group.

Key areas where the Group is exposed to credit risk are trade and other receivables and bank balances and derivative
financial assets (liquid assets).

The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk of
financial loss from defaults. The Group attempts to control credit risk by monitoring credit exposures, limiting
transactions with specific non-related counterparties, and continually assessing the creditworthiness of such non-
related counterparties.

Concentration of credit risk

Concentration of credit risk arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or
activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet
contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions, Concentration
of credit risk indicates the relative sensitivity of the Group’s performance to developments affecting a particular
industry or geographic location. Details on concentration of trade receivable balances are disclosed in note 11.
Management believes that the concentration of credit risk is mitigated by having received instalment payments, in
some cases substantial, which the Group would contractually be entitled to retain in the event of non-completion of
the remaining contractual obligations in order to cover the losses incurred by the Group.
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued
34.6  Credit risk management continued

Concentration of credit risk continued

At 31 December 2018, 100% (2017: 100%) of the deposits were placed with 13 banks. Balances with banks are
assessed to have low credit risk of default since these banks are among the major banks operating in the UAE and are
regulated by the central bank.

The amount that best represents maximum credit risk exposure on financial assets at the end of the reporting period,
in the event counter parties faif to perform their obligations generally approximates their carrying vatue.

34,7 Liquidity risk management

The responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the management of the Group, which has built an
appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and long term
funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves,
banking facilities and committed borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and
matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities at 31 December 2018

and 2017 based on contractual undiscounted maturities.

Effective lio3 3 months JR)
interest < I month months fo 1 year yems > 5 years Total
raie AED 008 AED'060 AED 000 AED 000 AED 000 ALD 060

31 Decenber 2018
Financial assets
Non-interest bearing instruments - 1,009,102 2,894,003 280,030 79072 4,262,207
Receivables from project finance 6-9% - 5,115 19,410 58,657 254,401 337,593
Variable intercst rafe fnstruments 3,436,998 658,686 961,494 - - 5,057,178
Derivative instraments - - - 14,024 - 14,024
Totak 3,436,908 1,672,913 3,874 352,711 —333.473 2,671,002
Financial liabilities
Mon-interest bearing instruments 62,038 2,573,435 1,090,101 304,702 " 4,030,276
Non-convertible sukuk - - 21,811 - 1,810,140 1,831,951
Variable interest rafe instruments 4,154 11,858 342,500 4,484,500 400,000 5,243,012
Operating lease liability 56,164 7,608 35,423 223,045 207,657 529,897
Derivative instruments - - - 5,802 - 5,802
Total 122,336 2,592,901 1,489,835 5,018,049 2,417,797 11,641,938
31 December 2017
Financial asscts
Mon-interest bearing instruments 95,000 853,974 3,039,442 325,563 82,571 4,396,550
Receivables from project finance 65-9% - 5,125 23,790 71,490 243,854 344,259
Variable interest rate instruments 2,452,164 158.035 4,341,643 - - 6,951,843
Total 2.547,164 1.017.134 1,404,875 397,053 336,425 11,692,651
Financial liabilities
Non-interest bearing instruments ¢ 227,158 2,288 428 859,727 242,199 - 3,617,512
Non-convertible sukatk - - 2,755,125 - . 2,755,125
Variable interest rate instruments - 38,021 769,369 1,400,000 1,005,000 3,212,390
Operating lease liability - 21,326 29,725 181,268 326,706 535,025
Derivative instruments - 5,748 10,515 - - 16,263
Total 223,158 2,353,523 4,424 461 1,823 467 1,331,706 10,160,315

M Including security deposits from customers.
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35 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Except as disclosed in the following table, management considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities recognised at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

As af 31 December 2018 As ar 31 December 20]__7_
Gross Gross
carrying Fair carrying Fair
amonnt value amount value
AED000 AED’004 AED'G00 AED000
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Non-convertible sukuk (note 17} 1,831,951 1,839,285 2,762.570 2,800,722

Following the amendment to IFRS 7, all financial instruments that are required to be measured at fair value (subsequent
to initial recognition) should be disclosed in a fair value hierarchy or grouping into 3 levels (Levels 1 to 3) based on
the degree to which the fair value is observable.

Level 1 fair value is derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level
2 fair value measurements are derived from inputs other than quoted prices, and Level 3 are those that are derived
from valuation techniques using unobservable inputs.

As at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017, the Group’s financial assets that are stated at fair value are grouped
as follows:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
AED 000 AED 000 AED 000 AED 600

31 December 2018
Irrvestments in financial assets at FVOCI

Equities 38,950 57,166 _ = — 96,116

31 December 2017
Investments in financial assets af FYOCT
Equities 28,000 91,389 = 119,389

The fair values of derivative instruments amounting to AED 8,222 thousand (net) pertaining to interest rate swap are
determined by independent valuers (see notes 20 and 34.5) and are measured at the present value of future cash flows
estimated and discounted based on the applicable yield curves derived from quoted interest rates. The derivative
instruments are categorised as level 2,

During the year, an unquoted investment has become listed and as a result moved from level 2 to level 1 hierarchy
amounted to AED 20,000 thousand at 31 December 2018.
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Aldar Properties PISC

NOTES TO THE CONSOLI]jATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 Pecember 2018

36 SEGMENT INFORMATION continued

36.1 Business segments continued

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments:

® all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than investment in associates and joint ventures,
investment in financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and ‘other financial assets’.
Assets used jointly by reportable segments are allocated on the basis of the revenues earned by individual
reportable segments; and

® all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than corporate borrowings and ‘other financial
liabilities'. Liabilities for which reportable segments are jointly liable are allocated in proportion to segment
assets.

36.2  Geographical segments

The Group operated only in one geographical segment, i.e., United Arab Emirates.

37 OTHER GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Other general and administrative expenses include social contributions amounting to AED 35,000 thousand
(2017: AED 40,000 thousand).

38 APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 13 February
2019,
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